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V.

FRANK C. CALMES, "CIV-ZLOCHLYNN D. ROWNTREE,
MANNY J. SHULMAN,
YOUNGER AMERICA, INC. (FORMERLY KNOWN
AS INFINITY ACQUISITION CORP.), AND

JAMES E. PRATT, ESQ.,
NerSENRAtym

Defendants, and

KRYSTAL A. BECNEL,
Relief Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") alleges:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This case involves a series of unregistered distributions of penny stocks between

July 2004 and March 2008 (the "Relevant Period") by Frank C. Calmes, Lynn D. Rowntree, and

Manny J. Shulman, partners and/or principals of First Equity Capital Corp. ("First Equity"), and

New York attorney James E. Pratt. In total, the unregistered distributions included shares of at

least four companies and generated proceeds of approximately $3.9 million. These distributions

were often facilitated by baseless legal opinion letters written by Pratt and, in some cases, by the

simultaneous buying and selling of shares ("wash trading") by Rowntree. Further, Calmes and

Shulman took control of one of the companies, Younger America, Inc., formerly known as
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Infinity Acquisition Corp. and Infinity Music Corp. ("Infinity"), and disseminated false

information to facilitate unregistered distributions of its stock.

2. By this conduct, CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, Pratt, and Infinity violated Sections

5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c),

and CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Infinity violated Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-

5.

3. The Commission seeks permanent injunctions, accountings, disgorgement plus

prejudgment interest, and civil penalties against all defendants; penny stock bars against Calmes,

Rowntree, Shulman, and Pratt; and officer and director bars against CaImes and Shulman.

Further, because many of the illegal sales directed by Shulman were made through accounts in

the name of his wife, Krystal A. Becnel, the Commission seeks an accounting and disgorgement

plus prejudgment interest from Becnel.

II. DEFENDANTS

4. Frank C. Calmes, 62, lives in Boca Raton, Florida. Calmes founded First Equity

in the 1980s and was a principal of First Equity during the Relevant Period.

5. Lynn D. Rowntree, 69, lives in Boca Raton, Florida. Rowntree was a First Equity

principal or partner from 2003 through 2008.

6. Manny J. Shulman, 47, lives in Boca Raton, Florida. Shulman was a First Equity

principal or partner from 2004 through 2008.

7. Younger America, Inc. (formerly known as Infinity Acquisition Corp.), is a

Nevada corporation based in Ft. Lauderdale, Florida. Younger America, Inc. has never

2



Case 9:09-cv-80524-WJZ Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 04/02/2009 Page 3 of 26

registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act or a class of securities under the

Exchange Act.

8. James E. Pratt, 74, lives in Garden City, New York. Pratt is an attorney licensed

in New York. Pratt wrote legal opinion letters regarding shares of stock held by Calmes,

Rowntree, and Shulman and regarding shares of stock issued by Infinity.

III. RELIEF DEFENDANT

9. Krystal A. Becnel, 44, lives in Boca Raton, Florida. Becnel is Shulman's wife.

During the Relevant Period, Shulman transferred shares of unregistered stock into accounts in

Becnel's name. These shares were then sold into the public market and the proceeds were

received into Ms. Becnel's accounts. Becnel has therefore received ill-gotten funds and does not

have a legitimate claim to those funds.

IV. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d), and

22(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d), and 77v(a); and Sections 21(d), 21(e),

and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa.

11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, Pratt,

Infinity, and Becnel and venue is proper, pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act and

Section 27 of the Exchange Act, in the Southern District of Florida because many of the acts and

transactions constituting violations of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, including acts

and transactions in which Pratt participated, occurred in the Southern District of Florida. In

addition, Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Becnel reside in the Southern District of Florida and

Infinity's principal place of business during a portion of the Relevant Period was in the Southern

District of Florida.
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12. In connection with the conduct alleged in this Complaint, CaImes, Rowntree,

Shulman, Pratt, Infinity, and Becnel directly and indirectly, singly or in concert with others,

made use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means or instruments of

transportation and communication in interstate commerce, and the mails.

V. FACTS

A. Overview of the First Equity Scheme

13. During the Relevant Period, CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Pratt engaged in a

scheme to distribute shares of newly quoted micro-cap companies to the public without the

required registration with the Commission.

14. CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Pratt contacted entrepreneurs running small

privately-held businesses and enticed them to permit First Equity to arrange mergers of the

entrepreneurs' businesses into shell companies that would become publicly quoted.

15. In connection with the merger process, Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, Pratt, and

entities they controlled obtained large blocks of the merged companies' common stock.

16. Calmes, Rowntree, and Shulman arranged for the public quotation of the merged

companies' stock on a quotation service ofPink OTC Markets, Inc.1 Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman,

and Pratt then sold large amounts of their shares to the public even though no registration

statement had been filed or was in effect with the Commission with respect to their shares.

17. Pratt often facilitated the scheme by writing letters to the companies' transfer

agents that falsely stated that the shares held by Calmes, Rowntree, and Shulman were "free-

trading." Pratt often received some of these purportedly free-trading shares in exchange for

writing the letters and for other services.

Pink OTC Markets, Inc. operates an electronic quotation and trading system in the over-the-
counter securities market.
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18. In those situations when meaningful trading volume in the newly quoted stocks

was sustained after CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Pratt had sold a substantial number of their

shares into the public market, some or all of them obtained additional shares from the companies,

which they then sold, without registration, into the public market to generate additional profits.

Pratt wrote legal opinion letters falsely stating that these additional shares were also free-trading.

19. Rowntree facilitated certain of his unregistered sales of stock by engaging in

manipulative wash trading.

20. Calmes and Shulman facilitated certain of their unregistered sales of stock by

disseminating false press releases.

21. Many of Shulman's unregistered sales were made through accounts in the name

of his wife, Krystal Becnel.

B. Execution of the First Equity Scheme

22. From 2004 through 2007, Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, and/or Pratt executed the

First Equity scheme with the stock of at least four companies: Eldorado Exploration, Inc.

("Eldorado"), Infinity Acquisition Corp. ("Infinity"), Sunrise Broadband, Inc. ("Sunrise"), and

Bentley Sports, Inc. ("Bentley"). The approximate total shares sold by the defendants and the

approximate total proceeds of those sales are reflected in the chart below.
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Eldorado Infinity Sunrise Bentley Totals

Calmes
Shares
Proceeds

25,365,000

$1,786, 150
72,482,468

$56,447
504,500

$148, 906
3.747,496

$183, 033 $2, 174,536

Rowntree
Shares
Proceeds

15, 160, 505

$547,232
2,080,061

$51,655
0

$0
900,000

$35, 300 $634, 187

Shulman
Shares
Proceeds

1, 266,750

$108,358
224,295,271

$167,766
0

$0
100, 000

$3, 600 $279,724

Becnel Shares
Proceeds

75,000

$18,556
41, 315, 000

$121,640
0

$0
500, 000

$30,204 $170,400
Shared
Accounts*

Shares
Proceeds

3,734,000

$341,427
30, 201,211

$56,072
10, 900

$19, 740
0

$O $417,239

Pratt
Shares
Proceeds

100, 000

$38,010
104, 146,428

$156,960
0

$0
1, 000,000

$89, 332 $284,302
Defendant
Totals

Shares
Proceeds

45,701,255

$2,839,733
474, 520,439

$610, 540
515,400

$168,646
6,247,496

$341,469 $3,960,388

'Accounts over which CaImes, Rowntree, and/or Shulman shared control

Eldorado

23. Eldorado was a Nevada corporation based in Irvine, California that was in the oil

business. Eldorado's stock was publicly quoted during the Relevant Period on a quotation

service of Pink OTC Markets, Inc. Eldorado never registered an offering of securities under the

Securities Act or a class of securities under the Exchange Act with the Commission.

24. In 2003, David T. Laurance controlled a private oil exploration company named

Eldorado Exploration, Inc. Sometime between the beginning of 2003 and spring 2004, Rowntree

and Laurance discussed using shell company mergers to facilitate raising money for Laurance's

business. In spring 2004, Rowntree agreed that First Equity would find a shell company into

which Laurance's company could be merged. Rowntree and Laurance negotiated the structure of

the merger transaction and agreed that Laurance would own a two-thirds stake in the merged

company that would not be sold to the public and that First Equity would control shares

representing a one-third stake in the company.

25. In or around June 2004, CaImes arranged for a merger to achieve this result.
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26. Prior to the merger of the two companies, the shell company had 30 million

shares of common stock outstanding that were held by the shell company's original owners. In

or about February 2005, the shell company merged with Laurance's company and issued 60

million new shares to Laurance. The merged company was renamed Eldorado Exploration, Inc.

In connection with the merger Laurance was appointed as the president of the merged company.

27. Calmes, Rowntree, and Shulman controlled the allocation of the 30 million

original shell company shares. After a series of stock transfers, Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman,

and entities they controlled together held approximately 20 million of the 30 million shares.

Pratt received 100,000 shares as a result of these transfers. Many of the remaining shares were

used as payment for stock promotion services regarding Eldorado.

28. Eldorado's stock was publicly quoted on a quotation service of Pink OTC

Markets, Inc. for the first time on March 18, 2005. For the next month and a half there was little

trading volume in the newly quoted stock, but beginning in May 2005, trading volume in

Eldorado increased steadily. By July 2005, Eldorado's weekly trading volume often exceeded 2

million shares (generally worth more than $200,000 per week).

29. Pratt sold his 100,000 shares in May 2005 and received proceeds of

approximately $38,000. Calmes, Rowntree, and Shulman started selling their Eldorado shares in

June 2005, and by the end of March 2006 had together sold almost 13 million shares for total

proceeds of approximately $1.4 million.

30. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to the sales of Eldorado stock by Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Pratt between May 2005 and

March 2006 and no exemption from registration was available.
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31. Many of the sales of Eldorado shares directed by Shulman during this time period

were made through accounts in Becnel's name. The accounts in Becnel's name received the

proceeds from those illegal sales.

32. In or around February 2006, Laurance informed Rowntree that Eldorado needed

more money. Rowntree met with CaImes and Shulman and together they developed a plan to

sell additional Eldorado stock to raise money for Eldorado and generate a virtually risk-free

profit for themselves. The plan, which Eldorado accepted, called for the company to sell large

blocks of its stock at a 50 percent discount to Eldorado's current trading price to CaImes,

Rowntree, Shulman, and an entity Shulman controlled in exchange for one-year promissory

notes in amounts calculated based on the discount. CaImes, Rowntree, and Shulman agreed that

after the stock was issued they would quickly sell enough of it to pay off the notes and thereby

generate the cash Eldorado needed. Rowntree explained this intention to Pratt at the time of the

transaction.

33. In or around March 2006, Calmes, Rowntree, or Shulman asked Pratt to write a

legal opinion letter instructing Eldorado's transfer agent that the new shares should be issued as

free-trading stock. Pratt's letter, dated March 8, 2006, stated that Eldorado could issue

"unrestricted, free trading common stock" to Calmes, Rowntree, and Shulman.

34. In or around March 2006, in reliance on Pratt's legal opinion letter, Eldorado

issued five million shares to each of Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, and an entity Shulman

controlled in exchange for four promissory notes with a total principal amount of $270,000.

35. The statements and conclusions in Pratt's March 8, 2006 letter were incorrect in at

least three ways.

8
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36. First, the letter was based on Section 230.504(b)(1)(iii) of Securities Act

Regulation D, which, under certain conditions, exempts from registration offers and sales of

securities made "exclusively according to state law exemptions from registration that permit

general solicitation and general advertising." The letter asserted that Section 7-11-402(10) of the

General Laws of Rhode Island provided the requisite state law exemption. In fact, Rhode Island

Section 7-11-402(10) exemption explicitly prohibited general solicitation and general

advertising.

37. Second, Eldorado, Calmes, Rowntree, and Shulman had no connection to Rhode

Island.

38. Third, the Section 7-11-402(10) exemption required that the issuer reasonably
believe that all purchasers "are purchasing for investment." Laurance and Pratt knew that

Calmes, Shulman, and Rowntree did not intend to hold the shares for investment, but intended to

sell them to generate the cash Eldorado needed.

39. Calmes, Rowntree, and Shulman sold nearly all of the 20 million shares within

two months of their issuance. Within two weeks of receiving his five million Eldorado shares,

Rowntree deposited them in a brokerage account and began selling the shares. Rowntree sold

nearly half of the five million shares by the end of March 2006, and then continued selling the

remaining shares at a somewhat slower pace in April 2006. Calmes waited until Rowntree's

selling had slowed at the beginning of April to begin selling his own five million shares. On

April 28, 2006, the day after Calmes had sold the last of these shares, Shulman transferred to

Calmes the 10 million Eldorado shares he and his entity had received. Within less than two

weeks, Calmes sold all 10 million shares. Proceeds from these additional sales of Eldorado stock

9
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totaled approximately $1,000,000, leaving Calmes, Rowntree and Shulman with approximately

$730,000 after paying off the notes.

40. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to these sales of Eldorado shares and no exemption from registration was available.

41. Pratt received a $10,000 cash payment from Eldorado for his assistance with this

distribution of the additional Eldorado shares.

42. From June 2006 through July 2007, Rowntree obtained approximately 10 million

additional Eldorado shares in three transactions between himself and Eldorado. The structure of

these transactions was virtually identical to the March 2006 Eldorado transaction including

payment for the new Eldorado shares with promissory notes from Rowntree that were to be paid

off with the proceeds of Rowntree's sales of the shares. For each transaction Pratt produced a

baseless legal opinion that was identical to his March 8, 2006 Eldorado opinion in all respects

except for the date.

43. From July 2006 through May 2007, Eldorado shares traded in a range of $0.07 to

$0.15 and Rowntree gradually sold approximately four million of the new Eldorado shares for

proceeds of approximately $314,000.

44. Begirming in June 2007, Eldorado's stock price moved steadily lower until it

slipped below $0.05 per share at the end of the month. In or around June 2007, Rowntree began

attempting to manipulate Eldorado's stock price upward. From approximately June 26 through

at least the end of August 2007, Rowntree entered approximately 130 pairs of offsetting sale and

buy orders for Eldorado shares to create wash trades at prices close to the inside ask price for

Eldorado shares.
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45. For example, on the morning of July 12, 2007, Rowntree, though his Scottrade,

Inc. account XXXXX1002, placed orders that resulted in executions as follows:

46. At 09:33:30.174 a.m., Rowntree entered a limit order to sell 50,000 shares of

Eldorado stock at $.0525. At that time, the inside bid and ask prices were, respectively, $.044

and $.055.

47. At 10:15:13.052 a.m., Rowntree placed an order to buy 5,000 shares of Eldorado

stock at $.055. At that time, the inside bid and ask prices were, respectively, $.05 and $.055.

48. At 10:16:32.368 a.m., a dealer with the symbol NITE sold 5,000 shares of

Eldorado stock to Rowntree at $.055. At that time, the inside bid and ask prices were,

respectively, $.05 and $.055.

49. At 10:16:32.408 a.m., a dealer with the symbol NITE purchased 5,000 shares of

Eldorado stock from Rowntree at $.0525 (leaving 45, 000 shares on Rowntree's original 50,000-

share sale order unexecuted). At that time, the inside bid and ask prices were, respectively, $.05

and $.055.

50. At 10:24:22.783 a.m., Rowntree placed an order to buy 15, 000 shares of Eldorado

stock at $.55. At that time, the inside bid and ask prices were, respectively, $.044 and $.055

51. At 10:24:27.151 a.m., a dealer with the symbol NITE sold 15,000 shares of

Eldorado stock to Rowntree at $.055. At that time, the inside bid and ask prices were,

respectively, $.044 and $.055.

52. At 10:24:27.191 a.m., a dealer with the symbol NITE purchased 15, 000 shares of

Eldorado stock from Rowntree at $.0525 (leaving 30,000 shares of Rowntree's original 50,000-

share sale order unexecuted). At that time, the inside bid and ask prices were, respectively,

$.044 and $.055.

11



Case 9:09-cv-80524-WJZ Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 04/02/2009 Page 12 of 26

53. At 10:40:12.778 a.m., Rowntree cancelled the 30,000-share unexecuted balance

of his original sell order.

54. Rowntree's other wash trades during June through August 2007 followed the

same general pattern as these wash trades. By entering purchase and offsetting sell orders at, or

about, the inside ask price for Eldorado stock, Rowntree created an artificially inflated picture of

buying interest in Eldorado stock.

55. The objective of Rowntree's wash trades was to artificially stabilize or increase

the Eldorado stock price as he disposed of the rest of his Eldorado shares.

56. From June 2007 through February 2008, Rowntree successfully sold

approximately six million Eldorado shares for proceeds of approximately $111,000.

57. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to Rowntree's sales of Eldorado stock between June 2007 and February 2008 and no exemption

from registration was available.

Infinity

58. In or around May 2004, Calmes and Rowntree met with a music producer and

agreed to merge his music business with a shell company that would become publicly quoted.

Following the merger the music producer and his partner held a majority of the merged

company's outstanding shares. The merged company was renamed Infinity Music Corp. and

was publicly quoted on a quotation service of Pink OTC Markets, Inc. for the first time in or

around July 2004.

59. Infinity never registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act or a

class of securities under the Exchange Act with the Commission.
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60. From July 2004 through October 2005, there was minimal trading volume in

Infinity's shares.

61. In or around November 2005, the music producer contacted Rowntree and said he

was unable to repay approximately $65,000 in loans related to Infinity.2 Rowntree discussed the

situation with CaImes and Shulman and they offered to assume responsibility for the debt in

exchange for all of the Infinity shares held by the music producer and his partner. The producer

accepted the offer and, on November 30, 2005, he and his partner transferred six million shares

to CaImes, three million shares to Rowntree, 4.5 million shares to Shulman, one million shares to

Pratt, and their remaining shares to various parties Calmes designated.

62. Beginning on or about November 29, 2005, Pratt wrote a series of letters that

falsely asserted that the shares transferred by the producer and his partner consisted of (1) "gifts"
to Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, Pratt, and the other transferees; and (2) shares that had been

previously pledged as collateral. Pratt stated in the letters that all of the transferees could tack

the holding periods of the producer and his partner onto their own for purposes of Exchange Act

Rule 144, the "restrictive legend should be removed from [the transferred shares]," and the

shares could be sold "free of all restrictions."

63. Following the transfer of shares by the music producer and his partner, Shulman

and Calmes took control of Infinity and named Shulman the sole officer of the company.

Between November 2005 and April 2006, Shulman and Calmes caused Infinity to issue six press

releases that falsely characterized Infinity as a company with the financial capacity to engage in

significant acquisition activity. Shulman and Calmes knew or were reckless in not knowing this

2 These loans were unrelated to Rowntree, Calmes, Shulman or First Equity.
13
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characterization of Infinity was false or misleading because Infinity was actually a shell

company with no assets, no employees (besides Shulman), and no clients.

64. The last of the six press releases, issued on April 25, 2006, falsely asserted that

Infinity had acquired certain assets for 15,000,000 in a combination of cash and preferred

stock." In fact, Infinity's own balance sheet as of December 31, 2006, which was received for

posting on or around July 19, 2007 by the quotation service on which Infinity's shares were

quoted, stated that the cost of these assets was $1.15 million. Moreover, the purported assets

never generated any revenues for Infinity. Shulman and CaImes knew or were reckless in not

knowing that the April 25, 2006 press release was false or misleading.

65. Contemporaneous with the false and misleading Infinity press releases issued

between November 2005 and April 2006, trading activity in Infinity's shares grew steadily and

during April 2006 the average weekly trading volume was greater than 2 million shares (worth

approximately $180,000 per week). From January 2006 through the end of April 2006, Calmes,

Rowntree, Shulman, and Pratt sold approximately 3.2 million Infinity shares for total proceeds of

approximately $185,000.

66. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to these sales and no exemption from registration was available.

67. Some of the sales of Infinity shares directed by Shulman between November 2005

and April 2006 were made through accounts in Becnel's name. These accounts received the

proceeds from those illegal sales.

68. From approximately April to June 2006, CaImes and Shulman caused Infinity to

issue nine million new shares (4.5 million shares to each of Shulman and Pratt). Around the

same time, Pratt prepared a legal opinion letter stating that all nine million shares were "free

14
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trading." Pratt's opinion relied on Rule 403(c)-1 of the Rhode Island Securities Division

Regulations. Rule 403(c)-1 required that the issuer reasonably believe all purchasers are buying

"for investment."

69. Pratt and Shulman did not intend to hold their Infinity shares for investment and,

in fact, sold Infinity shares on nearly every trading day throughout May and June 2006

generating proceeds of $57,439 for Pratt and $111,554 for Shulman.

70. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to these sales and no exemption from registration was available.

71. Many of the sales of Infinity shares directed by Shulman during May and June

2006 were made through accounts in Becnel's name. These accounts received the proceeds from

those illegal sales.

72. While Pratt and Shulman were making these sales, Shulman and CaImes

disseminated two false or misleading Infinity press releases. The press releases (1) made

reference to Infinity's "present and future clients" when in fact Infinity had no clients; (2)

announced a "strategic partnership" with First Equity that misstated the scope of First Equity's

prior business ventures; and (3) announced that Infinity would continue to expand into Europe

and South America, when in fact it had no activities in either location. Shulman and CaImes

knew or were reckless in not knowing that these statements were false or misleading. As this

false or misleading information was disseminated during May and June, Infinity's weekly

trading volume averaged approximately 9 million shares (worth approximately $360,000 per

week).

73. The false or misleading press releases, as well as the earlier false or misleading

information about Infinity disseminated by Calmes and Shulman between November 2005 and

15
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April 2006, remained uncorrected during the last six months of 2006. During this six-month

period, Calmes and Shulman caused Infinity to issue a large number of additional shares to

themselves and to Pratt, which Pratt falsely stated were free-trading in seven opinions that were,

with the exception of the date and number of shares, identical to his earlier Infinity opinion

regarding Rule 403(c)-1 of the Rhode Island Securities Division Regulations. Between July and

December 2006, CaImes, Shulman, and Pratt together sold approximately 165 million additional

Infinity shares for total proceeds of approximately $160,000.

74. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to these sales and no exemption from registration was available.

75. Many of the sales of Infinity shares directed by Shulman between July and

December 2006 were made through accounts in Becnel's name. These accounts received the

proceeds from those illegal sales.

76. At the end of 2006, CaImes, Shulman, and Pratt still held large amounts of

Infinity stock, but trading volume in the stock had declined dramatically. In late 2006 Shulman

learned that a physician he knew was seeking financing to construct "medical spas." Shulman

contacted the physician and promised that if he would join Infinity, Shulman would provide the

financial resources needed to build the spas. In November 2006, Infinity announced that the

physician and his medical spa concept had become part of the "Infinity family."

77. In March 2007, Shulman caused Infinity to issue two press releases that falsely

asserted that Infinity was providing services including the identification of "internal medical

problems which the patients experience as a result of the aging process" and "luxurious spa

treatments." Shulman knew or was reckless in not knowing that the press releases were false or
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misleading because Infinity was not providing any services and had no facilities capable of

providing spa treatments.

78. Later in March 2007, the physician left Infinity and Shulman began describing

Infinity as a developer and marketer of medical devices. From approximately April to June

2007, Shulman caused Infinity to issue three additional false or misleading press releases about

its acquisition of a company called Life-Without-Pain. The releases falsely asserted: (i) that

Life-Without-Pain was a manufacturer of pain therapy devices when in fact Life-Without-Pain

outsourced its limited manufacturing requirements; (ii) that Infinity had "finalized the acquisition

of Life-Without-Pain" for $20 million when in fact key documents relating to the proposed

acquisition were never finalized and the proposed consideration would have been worth far less

than $20 million; and (iii) that Infinity had sold 3,715 pain therapy devices developed by Life-

Without-Pain when in fact those devices had been sold before a proposed acquisition by Infinity

was discussed. Shulman knew or was reckless in not knowing that these statements were false or

misleading.

79. After Shulman started disseminating false information about Infinity's purported

medical spa development plan, trading volume in the company's shares jumped from an average

of approximately 23 million shares per week (worth approximately $14,000 per week) during

December 2006 to an average of approximately 121 million shares per week (worth

approximately $192,000 per week) during the last three weeks of January 2007. Thereafter, the

trading volume declined but remained significant until the end of September 2007. From

January through October 2007, CaImes, Shulman, and Pratt sold approximately 295 million

additional Infinity shares for total proceeds of approximately $92,000.
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80. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to these sales and no exemption from registration was available.

81. Many of the sales of Infinity shares directed by Shulman from January through

October 2007 were made through accounts in Becnel's name. These accounts received the

proceeds from those illegal sales.

Sunrise

82. Sunrise was a Nevada corporation based in Denver, Colorado that planned to

offer internet services. Sunrise's stock was publicly quoted during the Relevant Period on a

quotation service of Pink OTC Markets, Inc. Sunrise never registered an offering of securities

under the Securities Act or a class of securities under the Exchange Act with the Commission.

83. Calmes came in contact with the Sunrise principals in or around late 2004 and

persuaded them that First Equity's going public process would enable the company to raise the

money it needed to execute its business plan. Calmes and Sunrise agreed that the Sunrise

principals would own shares representing a 90 percent ownership stake in the merged company

and that First Equity would control shares representing the other 10 percent. Calmes then

arranged for a merger with a shell company to achieve this result.

84. In or around June 2005, the merger was completed. In connection with the

merger, Calmes obtained control of approximately 10 percent of the merged company's

outstanding shares.

85. Sunrise's stock was publicly quoted on a quotation service of Pink OTC Markets,

Inc. for the first time on June 30, 2005.
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86. The Sunrise stock did not develop any meaningful trading volume until February

2006 and the limited trading volume that developed at that time lasted for only about six months.

During this time period, CaImes sold approximately $150,000 worth of Sunrise shares.

87. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to these sales and no exemption from registration was available.

Bentley Sports

88. Bentley was a Delaware corporation based in Ludlow, Vermont that planned to

commercialize a golf swing imaging technology. The stock of Bentley was publicly quoted

during the Relevant Period on a quotation service of Pink OTC Markets, Inc. The company

never registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act or a class of securities under

the Exchange Act with the Commission

89. In or around 2003, Pratt learned from Bentley's principal that he was exploring

potential avenues for raising money. Pratt offered to turn Bentley into a public company to help

raise money. The Bentley principal accepted Pratt's offer and Pratt contacted CaImes, who

arranged for Bentley to be merged into a shell company.

90. After the merger was complete, Pratt wrote a legal opinion asserting, without any

description of supporting facts, that approximately 4.6 million shares held by CaImes, as a result

of the merger, qualified "for exemption from registration under the [Securities] Act and...

[could] be sold free and clear of any and all restrictions... ." Contemporaneous transfer agent

records show that CaImes' shares were approximately 12 percent of the total outstanding shares

of Bentley Sports.

91. At the beginning of March 2004, Bentley issued one million additional shares to

each of Calmes and Pratt. Two weeks later, Calmes arranged for the Bentley stock to be publicly
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quoted stock on a quotation service of Pink OTC Markets, Inc. For three months, there was

minimal trading in the newly quoted shares. Limited but steady trading in the stock developed in

July 2004 and continued until April 2005.

92. Between July 2004 and April 2005, Calmes sold 3.75 million Bentley shares for

total proceeds of $183,033 and Pratt sold his one million Bentley shares for total proceeds of

$89,332. In September 2004, Calmes transferred 900,000 Bentley shares to Rowntree and

600,000 Bentley shares to Shulman, which they quickly sold for $35,000 and $34,000

respectively. On April 7, 2005, as trading volume in Bentley shares began to decline, Calmes

made his last sale. In July, trading volume in Bentley's shares fell to zero and the stock was only

traded sporadically thereafter during the Relevant Period.

93. No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect with respect

to the sales of Bentley stock by Calmes, Pratt, Rowntree, and Shulman and no exemption from

registration was available.

94. Many of the sales of Bentley shares directed by Shulman were made through

accounts in Becnel's name. These accounts received the proceeds from those illegal sales.

COUNT I

Violations by Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, Pratt, and Infinity
of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act

95. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 94 of its Complaint.

96. No registration statement was filed or in effect with the Commission pursuant to

the Securities Act with respect to the securities and transactions described in this Complaint, and

no exemption from registration exists with respect to the securities and transactions described in

this Complaint.
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97. Between approximately July 2004 and February 2008, CaImes, Rowntree,

Shulman, Pratt, and Infinity, directly and indirectly: (a) made use of the means or instruments of

transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell securities, through

the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise; (b) carried securities or caused such securities to

be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any means or instruments of

transportation, for the purpose of sale or delivery after sale; or (c) made use of the means or

instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to

sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise, without a

registration statement having been filed or being in effect with the Commission as to such

securities.

98. By reason of the foregoing, Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, Pratt, and Infinity

violated, and, unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c)

of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c).

COUNT II

Violations by Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Infinity
of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act

99. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 94 of its Complaint.

100. Between approximately July 2004 and February 2008, Calmes, Rowntree,

Shulman, and Infinity, directly and indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentalities of

interstate commerce, and of the mails, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities,

knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b)

made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to

make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
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misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices and courses of business which operated as a fraud

upon the purchasers of such securities.

101. By reason of the foregoing, CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Infinity directly or

indirectly violated and, unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate Section 10(b)

of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.

COUNT III

Unjust Enrichment of Relief Defendant Krystal Becnel

102. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 94 of its Complaint.

103. Becnel obtained funds derived from the securities law violations alleged above,

and under those circumstances it is not just, equitable or conscionable for her to retain the funds.

Becnel was unjustly enriched.

104. By reason of the conduct described above, Becnel should be ordered to disgorge

the funds she received as a result of the defendants' violations of the federal securities laws.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:

1. Find that Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, Infinity, and Pratt committed the

violations of the federal securities laws alleged herein.

2. Enter a Final Judgment of Permanent Injunction, restraining and enjoining, to the

full extent provided by Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Calmes, Rowntree,

Shulman, Infinity, and Pratt, from directly or indirectly violating Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the

Securities Act, and Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, and Infinity from directly or indirectly violating

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act, as indicated above.
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3. Issue an Order requiring CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, Becnel, Infinity, and Pratt

to file with this Court sworn written accountings identifying:

(a) All assets, liabilities and property currently held, directly or indirectly, by

or for the benefit of CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, Becnel, Infinity, and Pratt, including, without

limitation, bank accounts, brokerage accounts, investments, business interests, loans, lines of

credit, and real and personal property wherever situated, describing each asset and liability, its

current location and amount;

(b) All money, funds, securities, property (real and personal), assets and

income received by Calmes, Rowntree, Shulman, Becnel, Infinity, and Pratt, or for their direct or

indirect benefit, at any time from July 1, 2004 through the date of such accounting, describing

the source, amount, disposition and current location of each of the items listed; and

(c) The names and last known addresses of all bailees, debtors, and other

persons and entities that currently are holding the assets, funds or property of CaImes, Rowntree,

Shulman, Becnel, Infinity, and Pratt.

4. Issue an Order directing CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, Becnel, Infinity, and Pratt

to disgorge all ill-gotten gains, including prejudgment interest, resulting from the acts or courses

of conduct alleged in this Complaint.

5. Issue an Order directing CaImes, Rowntree, Shulman, Infinity, and Pratt to pay

civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and Section

21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d) in amounts to be determined by the Court.

6. Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.
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Further, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this

action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that it may enter, or

to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional relief within the

jurisdiction of this Court.

April 1, 2009 Respectfully submitted,

By: 1
Christopher P. Friedman
Email: friedmanc@sec.gov
Hugh C. Beck
Email: beckh@sec.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
1801 California Street, Suite 1500
Denver, Colorado 80202

Telephone: (303) 844-1000
Facsimile: (303) 844-1068
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